Corporate Parenting Panel
Date

Friday 15 February 2019

Time

9.30 am

Venue

Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's
agreement
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2019 (Pages 3 - 8)

4.

Declarations of Interest

5.

Weekly Looked After Children Numbers - Update from Head of
Children's Social Care (Pages 9 - 14)

6.

Ofsted - Verbal Update

7.

Update from Investing in Children - Verbal Update (this item will be
filmed)

Theme: Residential Provision
8.

Analysis in the rise of Looked After Children - Presentation of
Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager (Pages 15 - 42)

9.

Plans to Increase Residential Provision for Children and Young People
in County Durham - Report of Head of Children's Social Care
(Pages 43 - 50)

10.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

11.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

12.

Summary of Ofsted Inspections of Children's Homes - Annual Update Report of Strategic Manager Looked After and Permanence and
Aycliffe Secure Services Manager (Pages 51 - 60)

13.

Health and Safety Update - Report of Occupational Health and Safety
Manager (Pages 61 - 80)

14.

Development Discussion





Pressures
Challenges
Emerging Issues
Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

15.

Regulation 44 visits: Summary Report - Report of Head of Children's
Social Care (Pages 81 - 118)

16.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
7 February 2019
To:

The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel
Councillor P Brookes (Chairman)
Councillor H Smith (Vice-Chair)
Councillors B Bainbridge, H Bennett, J Carr, J Charlton, J Considine,
P Crathorne, G Darkes, J Grant, I Jewell, M McKeon, J Makepeace,
O Milburn, C Potts, A Reed, G Richardson, A Savory, E Scott,
M Simmons, C Wilson
Co-opted Members
C Baines
M Baister
N Harrison
K Myers
W Taylor
Young person representative of the Children in Care Council (CiCC)

Contact: Jill Parker

Tel: 03000 269 711

Agenda Item 3

Durham County Council
At a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Committee Room 2, County
Hall, Durham on Friday 25 January 2019 at 9.30 am
Present:
Councillor P Brookes in the Chair
Panel Members:
Councillors Bainbridge, Bennett, Carr, Charlton, Considine, Crathorne, Darkes, Grant,
Jewell, McKeon, Makepeace, Potts, Richardson and Smith
Co-Opted Members:
C Baines, M Baister, N Harrison and W Taylor
Substitute Member:
Councillor S Robinson
Also in attendance:
Linda Bailey - Strategic Lead, Progression and Learning (presenting item 6)
Laura Broomfield – Team Manager
Kelsey Clayton - Legal Services Manager
Helen Fergusson - Head of Children’s Social Care
Selwyn Morgans - Manager, Aycliffe Secure Services Centre
Steve Percival - Service Manager, NYAS (presenting item 8)
Judith Rayne - Operations Manager, Children with Disabilities Team (presenting item 9)
Karen Robb – Strategic Manager, Looked After and Permanence
Ellie Seed - Investing in Children
Linda Spence - Team Manager, Children with Disabilities Team (presenting item 9)
Elizabeth Stenton - Strategic Manager, Families First South (presenting item 9)
Christine Stonehouse - Head of the Virtual School
Jayne Watson - Senior Partnership Officer
1.

Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Milburn, Reed, Savory, Scott,
Simmons and Wilson and from Co-opted Member, Kayleigh Myers.
2.

Substitute Members

Councillor S Robinson for Councillor A Reed.
3.

Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on Friday 14 December were confirmed as a correct
record and signed by the Chair.
The following matters arising were reported by the Senior Partnership Officer:

Page 3

Item 7 – In response to the Panel’s request for an update on the current position
with regard to the recruitment and retention of Social Workers, an update was to
be provided under item 12 of the agenda.
Item 8 – The Youth Aspirations event will be held on 29 March at the Leadership
Centre.
Item 10 - Dates for Care Day and meetings with the Children in Care Council have
been added to Members’ diaries. Members were reminded that if they wish to
participate in the event for Care Day, they must book a place in advance.
4.

Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.
5.

Weekly Looked After Children Numbers

The Panel considered a report of the Head of Children’s Social Care which provided an
update on the number of looked after children (for copy of report see file of minutes). It
was reported that the number of looked after children was 828.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
6.

Supporting Care Leavers into Education, Employment and Training

The Panel received a report and presentation of Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead for
Progression and Learning, which provided an update on the support available to care
leavers to enable them to progress into education, employment and training (for copy of
report and presentation see file of minutes).
In response to a question from Councillor Darkes, the Strategic Lead responded that
contact has been made with town and parish councils and with neighbouring authorities
and she will also consider exploring opportunities with town and parish councils. Cllr
Considine commented that the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee has also undertaken work with the Progression and Learning team and asked
if they were aware of the work of the Skill Mill. The Strategic Lead responded saying that
they are aware of the Skill Mill, however, Clean and Green have a slightly different
approach.
Councillor Robinson emphasised the importance of targeted recruitment adding that
Regeneration and Local Services have been particularly proactive to promote
opportunities with the Council’s sub-contractors. The Strategic Lead explained that
meetings with the Chief Executive are being held to discuss measures to increase
opportunities and it is hoped that the relocation to the new headquarters will generate
more leads.
In response to a question about gender of the NEET cohort from N Harrison, the
Strategic Lead informed the Panel that there are slightly more males than females.

Page 4

Councillor Jewell referred to those young people who do not complete the DurhamWorks
programme and asked why this occurs. The Strategic Lead responded that the
drop-out rate is slightly greater for those young people who are looked after / in care,
however, the drop-out rate is not so large that it is considered problematic. The Strategic
Lead stressed that contact is made with young people and providers to gather their views
on their experience of the placements, which helps to inform future placements.
Councillor Charlton referred to those looked after children / care leavers who are ‘not
known’ and asked the reason for this. The Strategic Lead responded that the reasons
are known, as monthly analysis is undertaken with the young people, however, the
reasons can be varied and complex. Some young people are simply unwilling or
apprehensive to withdraw from the benefit system and move into apprenticeships,
especially if they are not yet on universal credit.
The Chair asked whether any progress has been made on the proposal to ring-fence
apprenticeship opportunities for care leavers. The Strategic Lead informed the Panel
that this matter has been raised with human resources colleagues and a report is being
prepared for consideration by the Corporate Management Team.
In response to a question from Councillor Carr, the Strategic Lead informed the Panel
that DurhamWorks has established links with housing which have led to employment
opportunities.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
7.

Durham Virtual School Education Update

The Panel considered a report of Christine Stonehouse, Head of the Virtual School,
which provided an update on key priorities and developments to improve educational
outcomes for looked after children, based on the outcomes for 2018 (for copy of report
see file of minutes).
Councillor Charlton referred to Forest Schools and C Baines explained that these offer
children a hands-on, learning experience in a natural environment, designed to
complement the curriculum.
In response to a question from Councillor Grant, the Head of the Virtual School explained
that the inclusion base has 3 members of staff and inclusion support is available at Key
Stages 1 / 2 with bridge provision at Key Stage 3.
The Chair expressed concern that the cost to Academies may be a disincentive. The
Head of the Virtual School responded that maintained schools pay in advance, so it is
unfair to expect Academies to receive the same support as maintained schools, without
contributing. Academies are merely being asked to pay in a different way. However, the
Academy offer is being developed and consideration is being given to allowing
Academies to pay in advance too. The Head of the Virtual School advised that the
situation is being very closely monitored.

Page 5

Resolved
That the report be noted.
8.

Advocacy Services in Aycliffe Secure Centre

The Panel considered a report and presentation of Selwyn Morgans, Centre Manager,
Aycliffe Secure Centre and Steve Percival, Service Manager, NYAS which provided
details of the advocacy services and support available at Aycliffe Secure Centre, through
Coram Voice and the National Youth Advocacy Service (for copy of report and
presentations see file of minutes).
The Centre Manager reminded Members that young people have access to telephones
in their rooms, all of which have the advocacy number pre-programmed so that the
young people are able to contact them at any time, without needing to inform Centre
staff.
In response to a question from Councillor Darkes, the Service Manager for NYAS
clarified that advocacy services are offered to young people between the ages of 0-25
which includes a pre-birth service to offer advice to mothers-to-be and their unborn
babies.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
9.

Looked After Children – Children with disabilities

The Panel considered a report and oral presentation of Elizabeth Stenton, Strategic
Manager for Families First South, Linda Spence, Team Manager and Judith Rayne,
Operations Manager, which informed the Panel of the remit of the Children with
Disabilities Service (for copy of report see file).
Members were informed that there are currently 153 open cases, 11 of whom are looked
after children. A number of children suffer from multiple conditions and the service works
to identify the right provision to achieve the best outcomes. External providers enable
parents and carers to access short breaks from caring.
The Chair asked about those looked after children with disabilities who are not open
cases and asked if there is provision for them. The Team Manager explained that
families requiring assistance are able to access the service, for example, via referrals
through One Point.
The Panel noted that statistically the service performs favourably when compared to
neighbouring authorities and Councillor Robinson spoke anecdotally about a meeting he
had attended in London where a representative from Ofsted cited Durham County
Council’s Children with Disabilities Service as an example of good practice. The Team
Manager commented that the staff work very hard and representatives from neighbouring
authorities have visited Durham to observe the service.

Page 6

Cllr McKeon referred to a previous meeting at which a care leaver suffering with a mental
health issue had encountered difficulties accessing help as there had been a gap in the
provision between the Children’s and Adult Services. Cllr McKeon asked whether
safeguards are in place to ensure that there is no gap in provision for young people with
disabilities, during their transitions. The Head of Children’s Social Care clarified that the
Disabilities team does not generally work with young people with mental health problems,
their focus is linked to young people with significant physical health problems. The
transition for looked after children with mental health issues remains a priority and work
is ongoing with the Child and Adult Mental Health Service (CAMHS) to address this.
The Head of Children’s Social Care advised that, for children and young people with
additional needs, and their families, the transition from Children’s Services to Adult
Services can prove to be difficult. She explained that Durham has created a transition
service to help support all disabled young people, who come into this team from
Children’s Services at the age of 13. The transitions team works to ensure that young
people with additional needs, and their carers, have access to a planned, positive
progression when they approach adulthood and move into Adult Services.
Councillor Smith asked if this includes health services, as there are specific paediatric
consultants within children’s health services, however there are no similar specialisms
within adult health services. The Head of Children’s Social Care informed the Panel that
the transitions service provides for 0-25 year olds, and includes health services in order
to deliver the best package of care into adulthood.
Councillor Jewell asked about out-of-county provision. Judith Rayne explained that
some educational provision packages are out-of-county, especially 52 week placements.
Parental choice is also a big consideration, with many parents wishing to send their
children to Percy Hedley school, which is a high cost provision. Work is taking place with
the Head of Education and Skills and the SEND Manager to look at further developing
the in-county provision.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
10.

Update from Investing in Children

The following update was provided by Investing in Children:


An event is being planned for Care Day on 15 February, to celebrate life in care.
Members wishing to attend should complete the ‘event brite’ booking in the
calendar invite.



Foster Carer training sessions are continuing and there is now a young person on
the fostering panel.



Joint working was undertaken with the Young People’s Service, whereby the CiCC
provided a drop in session for young people in advance of a Young People’s
Service session - this was very successful.



Work on Health Passports is progressing.

Page 7



Recent recruits to the CiCC have brought some new ideas and there is an
emphasis on bringing new focus to the group.



Councillor Smith informed the Panel that a working group meeting will be held in
the near future, which will be a joint meeting of the Children and Young People
and Safer and Stronger Overview and Scrutiny Committees, to investigate private
residential children’s homes.



At the meeting on 15 February, the young people are intending to film during their
section. Panel Members are asked to note that filming will take place during the
Corporate Parenting Panel meeting on 15 February.

11.

Ofsted Updates

None reported.
12.

Strategies to Stabilise Social Work Teams

The Panel considered a report of Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and
Permanence which summarised the strategies which have been put in place with the aim
of stabilising Social Work teams (for copy of report see file of minutes).
It was reported that, following the recent recruitment drive, as at the end of December
2018, 19 new Social Workers had been appointed. Additional investment has been
agreed, and it is hoped that a further 15 Social Workers will be recruited by the end of
this financial year.
Resolved
That the recommendations in the report be approved.
13.

Exclusion of the public

Resolved
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded
from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the
likely discussion of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Act.
14.

Regulation 44 visits Summary Report

The Panel considered the report of the Head of Children’s Social Care which provided a
summary of the Regulation 44 visit action plans and responsive repairs for November
2018 (for copy of report see file of minutes).
The Head of Children’s Social Care provided information on two unpublished Ofsted
visits which had recently taken place.
Resolved
That the report be noted.
Page 8

Agenda Item 5

Corporate Parenting Panel
15 February 2019
Weekly Looked After Children Numbers

Report of Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’s Social Care,
Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Corporate
Parenting Panel with additional detail and further breakdown of the
weekly Looked After Children numbers

Executive summary
2

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel receive a breakdown of the
Looked After Children numbers to highlight fluctuations throughout the
month.

Recommendation(s)
3

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to:
Review the report and weekly Looked After Children information, noting
the lag due to papers deadlines (22 January 2019 is the latest
information available at the time of the report being written, due to the
implementation and migration to a new IT system).

Background
4

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel have historically received an
update on the number of Looked After Children, that was current at the
‘point in time’ of each Corporate Parenting Panel meeting.

5

At the April 2018 Corporate Parenting Panel meeting, members agreed
to continue to receive a breakdown of the following information to
highlight fluctuations in LAC numbers throughout the month. This
information is taken from the weekly LAC updates which are produced
by the Children and Young People’s Services Systems and Data Team
and circulated to relevant Durham County Council Strategic Managers
and Officers:
(a)

Looked After Children numbers by age group and length of time
in care

Page 9

(b)

Weekly Looked After Children numbers for the previous year.

Background papers

Contact:

Page 10

Appendix 2
Jayne Watson

Tel: 03000 268371

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
No implications
Finance
No implications
Consultation
No implications
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
No implications
Human Rights
No implications
Crime and Disorder
No implications
Staffing
No implications
Accommodation
No implications
Risk
No implications
Procurement
No implications

Page 11

Appendix 2: Weekly LAC Numbers
Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(a) Under
6 months

Age Group

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

37

24

(b) 1-4yrs

47

28

67

20

(c) 5-9yrs

32

31

31

64

21

179

(d) 10-15yrs

28

23

32

83

138

304

(e) 16-17yrs

12

4

10

31

67

124

Grand Total

156

110

140

198

226

830(+1)

61
162

885
835

795 802 801 795 795 795 797 798 792 788

780

795 801 796 802

806 804 799 808 809

821 814 818 825 828 825

831

822 824 827 827 823 824 827

832 834 827 826 828 828 830 827 832 829 830

785
735
685
635

18-Jan-19

11-Jan-19

04-Jan-19

20-Dec-18

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

01-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

02-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

25-May-18

18-May

10-May-18

04-May-18

27-Apr-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

585

09-Mar-18

Page 12

18 January 2019 Overall the number of LAC has increased by 1 from 829 to 830

22 January 2019
Overall the number of LAC has decreased by 11 from 830 to 819
Note this this is the last weekly LAC report from the current IT system and reflects the state of play as at the end of Tuesday 22
January, in preparation for migration to the new IT system.
Length of Time Looked After
(b) 6-12 (c) 1-2yrs (d) 2-5yrs
months

(a) Under
6 months

Age Group

(e) 5+ yrs

Total

(a) Under 1yr

32

25

(b) 1-4yrs

46

31

65

19

(c) 5-9yrs

29

32

32

62

21

176

(d) 10-15yrs

26

22

33

83

138

302

(e) 16-17yrs

11

4

9

32

67

123

Grand Total

144

114

139

196

226

819(-11)

821

825 828 825 831 822 824 827 827 823 824 827

57
161

885

835
795

802 801

795 795 795 797 798 792

788

785

802 806 804 799
795 801 796

808 809

814 818

832 834 827 826 828 828 830 827 832 829 830

819

780

735

685

635

22-Jan-19

18-Jan-19

11-Jan-19

04-Jan-19

20-Dec-18

14-Dec-18

07-Dec-18

30-Nov-18

23-Nov-18

16-Nov-18

09-Nov-18

01-Nov-18

26-Oct-18

19-Oct-18

12-Oct-18

05-Oct-18

28-Sep-18

21-Sep-18

14-Sep-18

07-Sep-18

30-Aug-18

24-Aug-18

17-Aug-18

10-Aug-18

02-Aug-18

26-Jul-18

20-Jul-18

13-Jul-18

06-Jul-18

29-Jun-18

22-Jun-18

15-Jun-18

08-Jun-18

01-Jun-18

25-May-18

18-May

10-May-18

04-May-18

27-Apr-18

20-Apr-18

13-Apr-18

06-Apr-18

29-Mar-18

23-Mar-18

16-Mar-18

09-Mar-18

Page 13

585

This page is intentionally left blank

Analysis of the rise in
looked after children
(LAC)
February 2019
Agenda Item 8

Page 15

Page 16

Brief
Provide further analysis and insights
about the increase in numbers of looked
after children.
• Context
• Demand and Throughput
• Policy Changes

Looked after children rate

Page 17

Page 18

Change in LAC by Region

Change in LAC Regional Neighbours

Page 19

Page 20

Change in LAC Stat Neighbours

Change in LAC by LA

Durham

Page 21

Page 22

Weekly LAC numbers - trend

Weekly LAC numbers - trend

Page 23

Page 24

Weekly LAC numbers - trend

Weekly LAC numbers - trend

Page 25

Page 26

LAC Placement Types

LAC Placement Types

Top 3 areas of growth:
Placed with parents
Friends and Family
Independent Foster Agency

Page 27

Page 28

Context Summary
• Long term LAC numbers are increasing in
line with North East trend.
• But Durham has had the joint 25th biggest
increase nationally based on last five years.
• However, current levels are low compared to
2015-17 trajectory.
• Using the trend since mid-2017 projection
remains stable for next 18 months.

DEMAND AND THROUGHPUT
Page 29

Page 30

Throughput, starters and leavers

2018
Reduced number of starts
Record number of c/fwd
Record number of leavers

Page 31

Page 32

LAC starts

*Some numbers have been estimated due to suppression in published figures as numbers were small

LAC starts
29% Increase in S20s
Proportion of S20s
reduced from 73% to
69%

150% Increase in
Interim Care Orders
Proportion increased
from 10% to 18%

Page 33

*Some numbers have been estimated due to suppression in published figures as numbers were small

Page 34

LAC ceased
Returned home to live with parents or relatives as part of care
planning process
Returned home to live with parents or relatives not as part of
care planning process

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

27%
(69)

9%
(23)
3%
(9)
23%
(60)

39%
(97)
2%
(6)
12%
(30)
20%
(50)
1%
(2)
9%
(22)
5%
(13)
12%
(30)

23%
(71)
11%
(33)
17%
(53)
20%
(62)
9%
(27)
8%
(25)
7%
(20)
4%
(14)

33%
(123)
13%
(47)
14%
(53)
14%
(54)
8%
(31)
8%
(30)
7%
(26)
3%
(11)

260

250

305

375

0
17%
(45)
21%
(54)

Adopted
Special guardianship order
Left care to live with parents, relatives or other person with no
parental responsibility
Moved into independent living
Residence order granted
Care ceased for any other reason
Number of children who ceased to be looked after during the
year

53% of those returning
home as part of care
planning process are
aged 0-4

2014-15

0

Children returning home
NOT as part of care
planning process more
evenly spread across
ages

Change % change
since
since
2016/17 2016/17
52

73%

14

42%

0

0%

-8

-13%

4

15%

5

19%

6

30%

-3

-20%

70

23%

60% of those who left
care to live with
parents, relatives or
other person are aged
16-18

*Some numbers have been estimated due to suppression in published figures as numbers were small

LAC ceased

Page 35

Page 36

Demand and Throughput Summary
• LAC starts have reduced by 18% for 2018 but record
number of LAC carried forward and ceased.
• Overall, numbers through-the-year remain high
historically.
• LAC starts - Increased number of S20s since 2014 but
proportion reduced. Increase in interim care orders.
• LAC ceased - Increase in LAC returning to live with
parents, relatives or other person with no parental
responsibility. (Age seems to be a factor but need to
check validity of these trends).

POLICY DRIVERS
Page 37

Page 38

National and Local Policy Drivers
a. Baby P

c. Re W

b. Baby P
trial

e. Daniel
Pelka trial
f. Re B and
d. Daniel Re B-S
Pelka
g. Re R
CYPS
restructure

Head of Service change

Four Serious
Case Reviews
CYPS and AWBH
merger

Significant spikes
in 2017 and 2012

• Serious Case Review
published
• Families First introduced
• MASH established
•
• Child M Serious Case
Review report finished •
• Durham LSCB Learning
Lessons multi-agency
conference

Change of
director

Ofsted report
Two Serious
Case
Reviews
published

Head of
Service
change

Joint Targeted
Area Inspection
(JTAI)

The London effect
• Three factors lie behind the decrease in
London numbers
• Unaccompanied asylum seeking children
• Shorter-term placements
• Social care management best practice

• Assistant directors reporting:

Page 39

• No discernible relationship between LAC
and children subject to a CP plan
• Or between increased availability of early
help and a reduction in LAC

Page 40

Social care management best practice
• Knowledge and understanding of LAC
population
• Controlling entry
• Encouraging exit
• Decreasing the duration
• Alternatives to care

Overall Summary and Conclusions
• Number of LAC increased substantially between
2014 and 2017.
• Since then levels have stabilised but numbers
throughout the year remain relatively high (i.e. starts
and leavers high).
• Wide variety of policy drivers nationally/locally.
• Reducing duration of care is key but difficult to
address.
• Best practice described by London Councils being
implemented in Durham (e.g. Edge of Care).
• Need to evaluated impact of restructure and other
changes on duration of care.
Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Corporate Parenting Panel
15 February 2019
Plans to Increase Residential Provision for
Children and Young People in County
Durham

Report of Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’s Social Care,
Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

This report sets out plans for the future development of in house
residential provision in Children’s Services which includes the redevelopment of the children’s home in Newton Aycliffe as well as the
development of solo provision for complex young people and
transitional supported living arrangements for Looked After Young
People and Care Leavers.

Executive Summary
2

This report outlines proposals to relocate a current 4 bed children’s
home in Newton Aycliffe, to a new location and increase capacity to 5
beds. The report details the specification for this development.

3

In addition, the proposal includes the option to consider the
development of either 2 transitional supported living arrangements for
young people or a solo provision within the grounds of the larger
property.

Recommendations
4

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to:
(a)

note the proposed developments to increase the current capacity
of Durham County Council’s in house residential provision.

Background
5

The numbers of Looked After Children in County Durham has
increased. At 31 March 2016, they were 675 looked after children in
County Durham. In 2018/19, this has increased by 22%, to an average
of 825, which led to increased pressure across all in house and external
resources including residential services. This has also impacted on
choice of placements for some young people.

Page 43

6

This has led to a decision to increase the size of the current residential
estate in order to enable Durham County Council to continue to provide
care for more of our children and to enable them to remain living locally
near their own communities and families. In addition, a small cohort of
young people require provision which can be tailored to meet their
specific needs which can include enabling them to live on their own, at
least for a period of time.

7

The children’s home in Newton Aycliffe is currently rated as ‘Good’ with
‘Outstanding’ elements by Ofsted and is part of the current in-house
residential establishment which provides 32 beds across 8 Children’s
Homes. The home is home to 4 young people who live there on a
medium to long-term basis.

8

At present the home is located on the Aycliffe site at Newton Aycliffe
and is the only inhabited building remaining on this site apart from
Aycliffe Secure Unit and NEAS. There is demolition work ongoing to
remove the remaining structures. This has caused disturbance to the
home’s amenities on a number of occasions.

9

Further work will commence in April 2019 to continue to develop the
area. This effectively means that the children’s home will remain
situated in the middle of a building site with all the associated issues for
residents. These include the amount of heavy traffic and the number of
construction workers on site. There is a recognised need to relocate the
home elsewhere.

Current Demand
10

Demand for residential care has been consistently high over the last
three years, as a result of increased LAC numbers and the closure of
two homes in 2015, which meant a loss of 8 residential placements. At
that time LAC numbers were around 630 which is significantly less than
the current LAC numbers which stand at 830.

11

At present demand exceeds the supply of suitable in-house residential
beds and therefore children and young people also live in externally
procured residential placements. We currently have 22 young people in
external residential provision which is 2.7% of the total number of our
looked after children. With a high demand for these placements at both
regional and national levels, it is often difficult to secure residential
placements. Some young people have specific needs that require
specialist support, but it is also the case that there are some young
people who could be cared for in our in house provision if we had the
capacity. External provision can also come at premium cost.

Page 44

Proposed Specification
Increase Capacity
Children’s Home – 4 to 5 beds
12

The aim is to replace the children’s home (currently 4 beds) with a 5
bedded children’s home for young people aged 12 to 18yrs. The
necessary budget is in place for this proposed development. This would
increase capacity by one bed. The rationale for not increasing bed
numbers to more than 5 is in line with keeping children’s homes to have
a domestic and family feel rather than a larger group which is difficult to
match and can lead to institutionalised routines and expectations.
Young people with complex and challenging behaviours can present
risks to the safety of other young people and staff and therefore a
Children’s Home for five young people is felt to be the maximum
number that can be safely managed.

Develop x 2 Transitional Supported Living Arrangements
13

The identified location should ideally have the potential to provide up to
two transitional supported living arrangements for young people aged
16/17+ years. This would have the remit of working with young people
to equip them with life skills to help them move into independence. This
would also potentially free up capacity in our children’s homes. As well
as increasing placement stability having this kind of provision would
help the authority meet some of the requirements of the Government’s
legislation around ‘Staying Close’ in the future.

14

Martin Narey, (Residential Care in England, July 2016) identified that
Looked After children will ‘sometimes shun advice and support and
soon find themselves isolated and essentially abandoned’ once they
leave care. This type of project would help them to develop the skills
necessary to live alone without either remaining in an expensive
provision during this period, or finding themselves without
accommodation altogether. Key adults from Residential Services would
remain involved with the young person throughout.

15

The development of transitional supported living provision will require
clearly defined eligibility criteria and a matching process, ensuring that
the risks attached to any young person in this accommodation do not
impact upon the children’s residential home. This would need to comply
with legislation in the Children’s Homes Regulations 2015 around the
Locality Risk Assessment (Regulation 12. (2)(c).

Provision of a Solo Children’s Home
16

Extensive searches have been undertaken to identify a suitable
property to establish a solo provision for young people. This is very
challenging due to issues around location; community relations; issues
relating to ‘change of use’ and the associated planning permission
Page 45

17

Should any potential larger property have external buildings in the
grounds of the main home, consideration will be given to developing
solo provision on the main site given the difficulties experienced to date
in locating a suitable property. Approval has been given for the
associated budget for this project.

Location
18

The children’s home must be located within County Durham and
consideration must also be given to the young people currently resident
in the current home and their access to education and local amenities in
the surrounding area.

19

With this in mind, the preferred relocation would be to the south west
region of County Durham, not be too remote and be near to bus routes
for both young people and staff – potential areas such as:
 Bishop Auckland
 Newton Aycliffe
 Spennymoor

20

Emphasis must also be placed on the likelihood that once a potential
property has been identified and planning application made it is possible
that there will be opposition from neighbours and residents so the
proximity of the home to neighbouring houses will also be a
consideration.

Property Requirements
Five Bedded Children’s Residential Home
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)

Detached/ ensuring privacy for/from neighbours
Minimum of 7 beds (5 x young people/2 x staff – 1 with en-suite to
have a separate bathroom from young people)
2 x Reception Rooms/Lounges
Kitchen
Dining Room (accommodate 8 people) or kitchen/diner
Minimum of 2 bathrooms as well as an en-suite for staff
Utility room or area for laundry and storage
Private garden
Access to internet/wi-fi
Parking for 4/6 vehicles at any one time
Adequate boiler capacity to provide hot water for residents and
staff

Transitional Supported Living Placements / Solo Provision
21

Page 46

Whilst priority will be given to the replacement of the current home,
increasing capacity to 5 beds, this specification will also consider the
development of 2 x transitional supported living arrangements in close

proximity to the children’s home and for solo provision for children and
young people.
22

There would need to be an identified referral process and pathway for
the use of the supported living accommodation. The building(s) would
need to be:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

In close proximity but separate from the main building
The capacity for two ‘flats’ would be more cost effective
Completely self-contained with separate entrance
Preferably with separate outdoor space

Voice of the Child
23

Young people who are currently resident at the existing home have
been made fully aware of the plans to relocate the home and will be
included in all appropriate decisions about the property. Young People
will continue to be part of the development of the new provision.

Ofsted Approval
24

The current Ofsted Inspector is supportive of the plan to relocate and
increase the capacity of the home. This will be subject to all Regulations
being met at the time of Registration in order to meet the Children’s
Homes Regulations 2015.

25

Ofsted have been informed of the proposal to include supported living
accommodation adjacent to the Children’s Home and have agreed with
this subject to all Regulations being met at the time of Registration of
the Children’s Home. If appropriate accommodation is identified that
meets the requirements to include solo provision then further discussion
will take place with Ofsted.

Contact:

Helen Fergusson

03000 261663

Page 47

APPENDIX 1: Implications
Finance – The replacement of the home in Newton Aycliffe is dependent upon
the allocated budget, development of the Aycliffe site and service delivery
preferences. The replacement of this children’s home has the potential to
provide an additional in-house residential bed as opposed to seeking an
external residential placement and potential for x 2 supported living
arrangements.
Staffing – Staff will relocate to the new children’s home.
Risk – N/A
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A
Accommodation – Children and young people who are looked after by the
Authority require accommodation within suitable and regulated placement
provision. This report sets out the proposed development of solo provision in
line with the Authorities sufficiency duty.
Crime and Disorder – N/A
Human Rights – The young person has the right to a family life where he is
cared for in a safe and secure environment which meets the young person’s
needs.
Consultation – N/A
Procurement – N/A
Disability Issues – N/A
Legal Implications – Section 22C Children Act 1989 places a duty on a local
authority who are looking after a child to place that child with his parents,
unless that is not consistent with the child’s welfare; or would not be
reasonably practicable. If the local authority are unable to make such
arrangements, they must place the child in the placement which is, in their
opinion, the most appropriate placement available. “Placement” means:
(a)

placement with an individual who is a relative, friend or other person
connected with the child and who is also a local authority foster parent;

(b)

placement with a local authority foster parent who does not fall within
paragraph (a);

(c)

placement in a children's home; or

(d)

placement in accordance with other arrangements which comply with
any regulations made for the purposes of this section.

Page 48

This arrangement complies with the duty in s22C as the young person will be
placed in a children’s home.
In addition Section 22G requires Local Authority`s to take steps to secure so
far as is reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation within their area
which meets the needs of children that the Local Authority are looking after
and whose circumstances are such that it would be consistent with their
welfare to be provided with accommodation that is in their local area.
(“sufficiency duty”)

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 12

Document is Restricted

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 13

Document is Restricted

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 15

Document is Restricted

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

